THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001501

---

James John Todd Kincannon,

Appellant,

v.

Ashely Suzanne Griffith,  
Moore Taylor Law Firm, P.A.,  
Vance Stricklin, and Amber  
Fulmer,

Respondents.

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 30 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Other Counsel of Record:  
Ward Bradley  
Moore Taylor Law Firm  
1700 Sunset Blvd.  
West Columbia, SC  
Attorney for Respondents

James John Todd Kincannon  
216 Jones Avenue  
Simpsonville, SC 29681  
864-963-4374  
ToddKincannon@gmail.com

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the circuit court err by allowing Respondents—despite Appellant’s timely objection—to support their Rule 12(b)(6) motion with two improper filings submitted less than two days before the hearing: a memorandum of law that presented numerous arguments entirely unrelated to Respondents’ two-paragraph, single-issue motion to dismiss and a supporting affidavit that was both improper and untimely, both of which the circuit court relied on extensively in fashioning its order dismissing Appellant’s complaint with prejudice pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6)?**
- 2. Did the circuit court err by relying on materials outside the record in the order dismissing Appellant’s complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) and failing to provide Appellant with an opportunity to respond to “judicially noticed” materials as required by Rule 201, SCORE?**
- 3. Did the circuit court err by dismissing Appellant’s complaint due to alleged pleading errors *with prejudice* and concomitantly refusing to grant Appellant leave to submit an amended complaint seeking to cure the alleged pleading defects cited in the circuit court’s order of dismissal, an amendment that would not have prejudiced Respondents and therefore should have been allowed pursuant to Rule 15 and common law?**
- 4. Did the circuit court err by failing to rule on Appellant’s timely motion for recusal and, accordingly, continuing to issue rulings on substantive matters in the case during the pendency of Appellant’s motion for recusal?**
- 5. Did the circuit court make additional errors of varying severity including completely misapprehending the nature of several of Appellant’s causes of action and the facts actually alleged in the complaint itself, which led to the circuit court erroneously dismissing several of Appellant’s causes of actions for reasons which have nothing to do with what Appellant actually pleaded in the complaint?**

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On March 21, 2019, Appellant filed a complaint against Respondents in the Lexington County Court of Common Pleas alleging abuse of process and related causes of action. The complaint was promptly served on all Respondents by the Lexington County Sheriff's Department. Respondents filed a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss on April 23, 2019. Both parties filed memoranda of law shortly before the hearing and Respondents additionally submitted an affidavit in support of their Rule 12(b)(6) motion, which Appellant objected to as untimely and improper. Appellant also objected to the memorandum of law filed by Respondents on the grounds that it included numerous arguments that had no relationship to the single-issue motion to dismiss Respondents had filed. The circuit court heard arguments on the motion to dismiss on May 29, 2019 and granted the motion by order filed July 2, 2019. Appellant timely moved for reconsideration. The circuit court summarily denied Appellant's motion for reconsideration by order filed July 30, 2019.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This case involves an appeal from an order dismissing a complaint with prejudice pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC and an order denying a motion for reconsideration of the dismissal order. All issues before the court on appeal appear to be questions of law. The standard of review applicable to questions of law is de novo. Town of Summerville v. City of North Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008).

## ARGUMENTS

### I.

**The circuit court erred by improperly allowing Respondents—despite Appellant’s timely objection—to support their Rule 12(b)(6) motion with two improper filings submitted less than two days before the hearing: a memorandum of law that presented numerous arguments entirely unrelated to Respondents’ two-paragraph, single-issue motion to dismiss and a supporting affidavit that was both improper and untimely, both of which the circuit court relied on extensively in fashioning its order dismissing Appellant’s complaint with prejudice pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6).**

#### *A. Respondents’ Improper Memorandum of Law*

Less than two business days before the hearing on Respondents’ Rule 12(b)(6) motion, Respondents submitted a memorandum of law to the circuit court in support of their two-paragraph, single-issue Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. See generally Respondents’ Memorandum in Support (R. 56-61). The memorandum argues numerous points of law entirely unrelated to Respondents’ simple and straightforward motion to dismiss, which is reproduced in its entirety as follows:

YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the Defendants move to dismiss the allegations of this Complaint as they fail to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. In particular, the Complaint alleges claims for Abuse of Process, Civil Conspiracy, Trespass on the Case, South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, Negligent Supervision, and the South Carolina Omnibus Adult Protection Act. All these claims center upon the factual allegations in the Complaint [sic] that the Plaintiff was charged Criminal Domestic Violence by a Solicitor in the Lexington County Solicitors’ Office.[sic<sup>1</sup>] The Defendants are not in control of the actions of the Lexington County Solicitors’ Office, and the

---

<sup>1</sup> There is no such thing as the “Lexington County Solicitors’ Office.” There is an Eleventh Circuit Solicitors’ Office which has jurisdiction over Lexington County, but Appellant’s complaint makes no reference to it. The criminal prosecution at issue in this case was handled entirely by the Lexington County Sheriff’s Office, which is referenced in Appellant’s complaint.

Defendants cannot be held liable for actions of the Lexington County Solicitors' Office.

With this in mind, the Defendants move that this matter be dismissed with Prejudice.

See Respondents' Motion to Dismiss at 1 (R. 54).

Despite the simplicity of Respondents' single-issue motion to dismiss, the memorandum of law submitted by Respondents less than two days before the hearing contains all sorts of arguments on points of law entirely unrelated to the single "prosecutorial control" ground advanced in the motion to dismiss itself. See generally Respondents' Memorandum in Support (R. 56-61). Respondents' memorandum in support is a "kitchen sink" filing that makes every argument to dismiss Appellant's complaint that Respondents' could think of, practically all of which are entirely unrelated to the motion to dismiss itself. For example, Respondents' memorandum of law contains arguments about pleading insufficiency with respect to Appellant's causes of action that have *absolutely nothing to do* with the "prosecutorial control" ground in the motion to dismiss itself. See Respondents' Memorandum in Support at 3-6 (R. 58-61).<sup>2</sup> These arguments are entirely unrelated to the motion to dismiss itself and therefore cannot be properly included in a supporting memorandum of law filed less than two days before the hearing consistent with constitutional due process and the

---

<sup>2</sup> By way of example, Respondents' memorandum contains an argument related to the Omnibus Adult Protection Adult Act to the effect that Appellant has "not alleged facts to show he was a vulnerable adult." See Respondents' Memorandum in Support at 6 (R. 61). That plainly has nothing whatsoever to do with the "prosecutorial control" argument advanced in Respondents' motion to dismiss and could not properly be included in a supporting memorandum. Practically all of Respondents' memorandum in support is like this—the arguments submitted in support of the motion to dismiss have absolutely no relationship whatsoever to the single ground raised in the motion to dismiss.

South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, which require that motions “state with particularity the grounds therefor.” Rule 7(b)(1), SCRCPP.

Courts plainly cannot allow parties to evade the requirements of Rule 7(b)(1) and the ten-day motion filing requirement of Rule 6(d), SCRCPP by filing simple motions arguing a single point of law, then radically expanding their arguments with a memorandum of law submitted on the eve of the hearing. Permitting parties to act in this manner not only subverts Rules 6(d) and 7(b)(1) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure—it also violates the constitutional due process rights of parties responding to such arguments by denying them a full and fair opportunity to respond to motions filed by their opponents. This is particularly true where a memorandum is filed less than two days before a hearing—in that situation, the opposing party is not only denied the ten days to respond to the motion guaranteed by Rule 6(d), but the party is also placed in the situation of preparing and filing something on a de facto emergency basis despite the absence of any emergency. That is problematic for all litigants but especially problematic for a disabled pro se litigant like Appellant, and it cannot be permitted by South Carolina courts without violating the due process protections of both the state and federal constitutions.

Appellant timely objected and moved to strike the portions of Respondents’ memorandum of law that argue points unrelated to Respondents’ motion to dismiss. See Transcript at p. 13 l. 13 to p. 14 l. 10 (R. 47-48) and Appellant’s Amended Memorandum in Opposition at 8-12 (R. 110-114). The circuit court did not rule on Appellant’s objection and motion to strike (see

generally Order of Dismissal (R. 1-10)) and Appellant properly preserved these issues by timely moving for reconsideration of that particular issue. See Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration at 1-2 (R. 118-119). The circuit court denied Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration by way of a summary order that did not specifically address Appellant's arguments relating to the impropriety of Respondents' memorandum of law. See generally Order Denying Reconsideration (R. 11-12).

The circuit court's error was plainly harmful to Appellant. Every legally meaningful part of the order dismissing Appellant's complaint includes arguments and other material gleaned from the improper portions of Respondents' memorandum of law that have absolutely no relationship to Respondents' motion to dismiss itself. Compare Respondents' Memorandum in Support (R. 56-61) with Order of Dismissal (R. 1-10). There is no way to separate the untainted parts of the circuit court's dismissal order from the unaffected parts. The only solution is for the Court of Appeals to vacate the order of dismissal and remand the case to the Lexington County Circuit Court with instructions to sustain Appellant's objection to the improper portions of Respondents' memorandum of law, hear Respondents' motion to dismiss anew, and consider only the motion to dismiss itself and any new supporting memorandum Respondents might file that contains no improper argument outside the scope of their motion.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> As also explained in this brief, the Court of Appeals should also direct the Lexington County Circuit Court to sustain Appellant's objection to the improper and untimely supporting affidavit filed by Respondents in support of their motion to dismiss.

*B. Respondents' Improper and Untimely Supporting Affidavit*

Along with their improper memorandum of law served and filed on the eve of the hearing, Respondents also submitted an improper and indisputably untimely affidavit in support of their motion to dismiss. See generally Respondents' Supporting Affidavit (R. 62-90). Appellant raised a timely objection to Respondents' supporting affidavit orally at the hearing (see Transcript at p. 12 l. 24 to p. 13 l. 11 (R. 46-47)) and by way of a written objection and motion to strike submitted to the Court at the hearing. See Plaintiff's Amended Memorandum in Opposition at 12-14 (R. 114-116). Appellant's objection was based on two points of black letter South Carolina law: Rule 12(b)(6) motions cannot be supported by affidavits except in rare situations inapplicable to this case (see Brown v. Leverette, 291 S.C. 364, 367, 353 S.E.2d 697, 698-99 (1987) and, further, Respondents' affidavit was untimely because it was not served along with the motion at least ten days prior to the hearing. In fact, it was served and filed less than two days before the hearing in clear violation of Rules 6(d) and 7(b)(1), SCRPC.

Just as the circuit court failed to rule on Appellant's timely objections to Respondents' memorandum of law, the circuit court also did not rule on Appellant's objection to the affidavit at the hearing or in the order granting Respondents' motion to dismiss. See generally Transcript (R. 35-53) and Order of Dismissal (R. 1-10). Appellant properly preserved the issue for appellate consideration by timely moving for reconsideration of the Order of Dismissal and again objecting to, and moving to strike, Respondent's improper and untimely

affidavit supporting their Rule 12(b)(6) motion. See Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration and Additional Relief at 2 (119). Appellant timely moved for reconsideration (see generally Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration (R. 118-129)), and the circuit court summarily denied Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration without a hearing. See Order Denying Reconsideration at 1 (R. 11). The circuit court did not address the affidavit issue in the one-paragraph order summarily denying reconsideration. Id.

The circuit court plainly erred by failing to rule on Appellant’s objection and motion to strike Respondents’ untimely affidavit supporting their Rule 12(b)(6) motion. The circuit court obviously had a fundamental duty to rule on the objection, and crystal clear South Carolina law required the circuit court to sustain Appellant’s objection and strike the affidavit for two independent reasons: (1) Rule 12(b)(6) motions, which necessarily allege only pleading defects, cannot be supported by affidavits per Brown v. Leverette, 291 S.C. 364, 367, 353 S.E.2d 697, 698-99 (1987)<sup>4</sup> and (2) Respondents’ supporting affidavit was untimely because it was served and filed less than two days before the hearing in direct violation of Rules 6(d) and 7(b)(1), SCRPC.

The circuit court’s error was not harmless. The circuit court plainly relied on the improper and untimely affidavit submitted by Respondents in its order dismissing Appellant’s complaint. For example, the order expressly states:

---

<sup>4</sup> Courts may consider such affidavits *only* if the court converts the Rule 12(b)(6) motion to a motion for summary judgment *and* grants the opposing party sufficient notice and time to submit counteraffidavits. Brown v. Leverette, 291 S.C. 364, 367, 353 S.E.2d 697, 698-99 (1987). None of that happened in this case. The circuit court did not convert Respondents’ Rule 12(b)(6) motion to a motion for summary judgment and did not give Appellant any time to submit counteraffidavits.

As an additional determining factor, it is instructive for this Court to state what is obvious to any person who reviews the relevant history of Plaintiff's litigation, claims, and prosecutions. The Plaintiff is no doubt aggrieved by the circumstances of the dissolution of his marriage. The Court is sensitive to the inexorable effect of obsessive interpersonal passion. However, lawsuits against third parties who may have had some connection to the marital fallout [sic<sup>5</sup>] are not the responsible or legally appropriate method of redressing interpersonal grievances. . . . The Plaintiff is flailing about wildly through misplaced litigation to recover something which has been lost. Sadly, the Courts are not the venue for recovering this type of loss or for exacting personal retribution.

Order of Dismissal at 8 (R. 8).

The only possible source of this improper conclusion by the circuit court is the untimely affidavit (R. 62-90) submitted by Respondents in support of their motion to dismiss (R. 54-55). Nothing in Appellant's complaint (R. 14-34) suggests that Appellant is an "obsessive" litigant improperly using the judicial system as a "method of redressing interpersonal grievances," as the order concludes (R. 8). Appellant's complaint contains nothing that would even begin to suggest such a thing. The gravamen of Appellant's complaint is that Respondents improperly hijacked a plea bargain negotiation between Appellant and the Lexington County Sheriff's Office by persuading the prosecutor to demand Appellant make concessions to Respondents in civil litigation entirely unrelated to the criminal matter in exchange for dismissal of the criminal charge against Appellant. That is not "obsessive" or "improper" litigation—it is a perfectly legitimate effort by Appellant to vindicate his fundamental right not to have plea bargain negotiations in a criminal matter extortionately hijacked by

---

<sup>5</sup>The circuit court bizarrely concluded that Appellant's ex-wife—Respondent Griffith—is a "third part[y] who may have had some connection to the marital fallout." Obviously this is an error.

Respondents.

The fact that the circuit court included this material in the dismissal order is proof that the circuit court improperly relied on the untimely and improper affidavit submitted by Respondents and requires this court to vacate the dismissal and remand the matter to the Lexington County Circuit Court with instructions to strike the affidavit and rehear the motion to dismiss without consideration of any material within it, none of which is in any way relevant to a Rule 12(b)(6) motion in any event and was submitted to the circuit court by Respondents as part of a naked (and, unfortunately, successful) attempt to improperly prejudice the court against Appellant with respect to this litigation.

## II.

**The circuit court erred by improperly relying on materials outside the record in the order dismissing Appellant’s complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) and failing to provide Appellant with an opportunity to respond to “judicially noticed” materials as required by Rule 201, SCRE.**

In addition to improperly relying on a memorandum of law containing argument entirely unrelated to the motion to dismiss and improperly relying on an untimely and improper affidavit, the circuit court also erred by improperly relying on three documents cited as “exhibits” in the order of dismissal that are not, and never have been, part of the record below and—despite being identified as “exhibits” in the order of dismissal—were never filed with the clerk by either Respondents or the circuit court judge who issued the order of dismissal. The three “exhibits” are referenced on page 4 (R. 4) of the order of dismissal<sup>6</sup> but were

---

<sup>6</sup> The exhibits are preliminary rulings in Appellant’s divorce litigation which involved  
Page 16 of 44

not attached to the order and, again, are not part of the record below. These documents were not referenced in any of the filings of Respondents or Appellant—they merely appear by reference for the very first time in the circuit court’s Order of Dismissal, never having been referenced in the record by any party or the court, with the circuit court taking “judicial notice” of them without following the proper procedure for taking judicial notice, and despite doing so did not actually attach them to the dismissal order or enter them into the record of the case. See Order of Dismissal at 4 (R. 4). Appellant objected that the circuit court had done this without giving Appellant an opportunity to respond, as required by Rule 201, SCRE, but the circuit court ignored Appellant’s objection and did not allow Appellant an opportunity to respond to the judicial notice. See Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration at 4 (R. 121); see generally Order Denying Reconsideration (R. 11-12).

Appellant timely raised an objection to the circuit court’s reliance on material outside the record in the dismissal order in Appellant’s motion for reconsideration. See Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration at 2; 4 (R. 119; 121). The circuit court summarily denied Appellant’s motion for reconsideration. See generally Order Denying Reconsideration (R. 11-12). Appellant therefore properly preserved this issue for appeal.

Obviously, the circuit court erred by considering and referencing materials outside the record in an order granting a Rule 12(b)(6) motion. It is fundamental

---

Respondents that were voided by the final order in Appellant’s divorce case and have no relevance whatsoever to Respondents’ Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss.

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