THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001501

RECEIVED

Sep 25 2020

SC Court of Appeals

James John Todd Kincannon,Appellant,

v.

Ashley Suzanne Griffith,
Moore Taylor Law Firm, P.A.,
Vance Stricklin, and Amber Fulmer, Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

James Edward Bradley, SC Bar #66130
Moore Taylor Law Firm, P.A.
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
(803) 796-9160
Ward@mttlaw.com
Attorney for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I. JUDGE STILWELL PROPERLY ALLOWED MOORE TAYLOR TO SUPPORT ITS MOTION WITH A MEMORANDUM AND AN AFFIDAVIT.

Kincannon argues that Moore Taylor improperly filed a memorandum of law and an affidavit to support its Motion to Dismiss. (Appellant's Initial Br., p. 7). He asserts that Moore Taylor's Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Dismiss contains arguments that are entirely unrelated to its motion to dismiss. (Appellant's Initial Br., p. 7). This is not the case. In Moore Taylor's motion to dismiss, it specifically lists each and every cause of action that Kincannon raised in his Complaint as follows:

Defendants move to dismiss the allegations of this Complaint as they fail to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. In particular, the Complaint alleges claims for Abuse of Process, Civil Conspiracy, Trespass on the Case, South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, Negligent Supervision, and the South Carolina Omnibus Adult Protection Act.

(R. p. 54).

Moore Taylor's memorandum addresses every cause of action that Kincannon alleges and shows that Kincannon failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. (R. pp. 57-61). Memoranda are commonly submitted to support legal arguments. For a Memorandum in Support of a Motion to Dismiss to be helpful, efficient, and relevant to the court, it should address why each cause of action fails to state a claim upon which relief could be granted.

Furthermore, Kincannon asserts that Moore Taylor has violated Rule 7(b)(1) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (Appellant's Initial Br., p. 8). Rule 7(b)(1), SCRPC requires that motions "shall state with particularity the grounds therefor, and shall set forth the relief or order sought." The particularity requirement "is to be read flexibly in 'recognition of the peculiar circumstances of the case.'" *Camp v. Camp*, 386 S.C. 571, 575, 689 S.E.2d 634, 636 (2010). "By

requiring notice to the court and the opposing party of the basis for the motion, rule 7(b)(1) advances the policies of reducing prejudice to either party and assuring that 'the court can comprehend the basis of the motion and deal with it fairly.'" *Id.* Therefore, when a motion is challenged for a lack of particularity, the court should ask "whether any party is prejudiced by a lack of particularity or 'whether the court can comprehend the basis for the motion and deal with it fairly.'" *Id.* "The particularity requirement should not be applied in an overly technical fashion when the purpose behind the rule is not jeopardized." *Id.*

In *Camp*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina held that the lower Court was able to comprehend the motion and deal with it fairly and neither party was prejudiced. *Id.* This was a dispute in Family Court over who would pay their son's tuition. *Id.* The family court concluded that the father would pay seventy percent of the tuition. *Id.* The father filed a motion for reconsideration which stated:

PLEASE be advised that the Defendant through his undersigned attorney, will move before the Honorable David Sawyer, Jr., to reconsider the ruling in his Order dated July 26, 2006, in awarding Plaintiff, William James Camp's college expenses and costs.

Id.

The mother argued that the father's motion failed to state with particularity the grounds upon which the motion was based or the specific relief sought. *Id.* The Supreme Court reasoned that applying an overly technical analysis of the particularity requirement in this instance would not reduce prejudice to either party nor would it assure the court that it would be able to deal with the motion fairly. *Id.* Since neither party was prejudiced and the court dealt with the motion fairly, the father's motion for reconsideration did not violate Rule 7(b)(1), SCRCF. *Id.*

Kincannon argues that Moore Taylor did not state with particularity the grounds for its Motion to Dismiss. (Appellant's Initial Br., p. 8). Similar to *Camp*, Moore Taylor's motion was

easily understood by the court and did not prejudice either party. The motion lists each claim and alleges that each claim fails to state a cause of action. Moore Taylor filed its Motion to Dismiss on April 23, 2019. The Motion hearing in front of Judge Stilwell was not until May 29, 2019. Mr. Kincannon had over a month to prepare his arguments against Moore Taylor's Motion and even submitted a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss on that same day. Since Rule 7(b)(1) SCRPC is to be read flexibly, and there is no evidence of prejudice to either party, Moore Taylor's Motion to Dismiss was proper.

Next, there was nothing in Moore Taylor's Memorandum unrelated to its Motion to Dismiss. Kincannon argues that the motion to dismiss contains a "single 'prosecutorial control' ground" for which the motion was made. (Appellant's Initial Br., p. 8). However this motion to dismiss includes every cause of action that is alleged in Kincannon's complaint. Judge Stilwell properly allowed Moore Taylor to file its Memorandum in Support of the Motion to Dismiss. Mr. Kincannon cites no authority to support his argument that a trial court commits error by reviewing a memorandum. And, Moore Taylor knows of no authority to support this argument. Trial Courts in general have inherent authority and discretion to decide what motions to review and what arguments to accept or deny. *See generally Kinard v. Richardson*, 407 S.C. 247, 754 S.E.2d 888 (2014) (reviewing filed Memorandum of Law when ruling on a declaratory judgment action). With this in mind, Judge Stilwell properly exercised his discretion in reviewing Moore Taylor's memorandum.

Next, Kincannon argues that Moore Taylor submitted an improper and untimely affidavit in support of its Motion to Dismiss. (Appellant's Initial Br., p. 10). Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

[I]f on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the Court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.

S.C. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

Moore Taylor submitted an affidavit on May 24, 2019 to support its Motion to Dismiss. (R. p. 62). The Order of Judge Stilwell does not indicate that he relied upon the affidavit in ruling on the motion to dismiss. Instead, he ruled on the pleadings alone. Judge Stilwell had the discretion to change the 12(b)(6) motion into a summary judgment motion to which Kincannon could submit affidavits in response. Nothing indicates that he did so. Instead, he ruled on the motion without relying upon the affidavit of Mr. Stricklin. Judge Stilwell did review Mr. Kincannon's long history of filing lawsuits against his ex-wife, but this information is in the public record and not solely obtained from Mr. Stricklin's affidavit. In addition, Judge Stilwell did not rely on Mr. Kincannon's extensive history of *pro se* litigation to rule. Instead, he ruled on the law and the pleadings. Judge Stilwell's order does mention Mr. Kincannon's extensive litigation history as an additional determining factor. (R. p. 8). This history was a topic of oral argument to the Judge and readily available to the Judge as a matter of public record. (R. p. 38, line 18-p. 39, line 25). Therefore, the affidavit of Mr. Stricklin was not determinative to Judge Stilwell's ruling, and his review of it is not a basis for overturning his order.

In addition, Judge Stilwell offered the opportunity to both parties to submit proposed orders. Mr. Kincannon did not submit any additional motions or respond to the statements regarding his extensive history of *pro se* litigation or submit any affidavit in response to Mr. Stricklin's affidavit. (R. p. 52, lines 4-10).

II. JUDGE STILWELL PROPERLY TOOK NOTICE OF PREVIOUS PLEADINGS AND COURT RULINGS.

Kincannon argues that Judge Stilwell referenced material outside of the record in his Order granting the Rule 12(b)(6) motion. (Appellant’s Initial Br., p. 14). In the Order of Dismissal, Judge Stilwell judicially noticed that the Family Court had issued an Interim Temporary Order in favor of Ms. Griffith after a hearing about the return of her pet. (R. p. 4). Rule 201 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence titled “Judicial Notice of Adjudicative Facts” states that: “[a] court may take judicial notice, whether requested or not.” S.C. R. Evid. 201. For a fact to be subject to judicial notice, “it must be so notorious that the court may properly assume its existence without proof.” *Masters v. Rodgers Dev. Group*, 283 S.C. 251, 255, 321 S.E.2d 194, 196 (Ct. App. 1984).

Judge Stilwell took notice of prior judicial findings in cases involving Mr. Kincannon himself. “The Court also takes judicial notice that the Family Court issued an Interim Temporary Order on July 1, 2016 from a June 30, 2016 hearing ordering a return of the pet.” (R. p. 4). Those proceedings are matters of public record which are available in the Courthouse or on electronic filing systems. Mr. Kincannon cannot complain of surprise that the Court reviewed his extensive filing history. The history is a public record of proceedings in which Mr. Kincannon was involved.

Kincannon cannot dispute his own actions found in court records. Therefore, Rule 201 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence and Appellant’s constitutional due process rights were not violated by Judge Stilwell properly taking notice of previous pleadings and court rulings.

III. JUDGE STILWELL PROPERLY DISMISSED KINCANNON'S COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE WITHOUT LEAVE TO AMEND BECAUSE THE AMENDMENT WOULD BE FUTILE.

Rule 15(a) SCRPC states that “a party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires and does not prejudice any other party.” S.C. R. Civ. P. 15(a). Although leave to amend should generally be “freely given,” it may be denied where the proposed amendment would be futile. *Doe v. Charleston County Sch. Dist.*, 2019 S.C. C.P. LEXIS 2386. In *Doe*, the Court held the Plaintiff's Complaint against one defendant should be dismissed with prejudice. *Id.* There, the Plaintiff sued multiple Defendants based on alleged sexual abuse of a minor. *Id.* One Defendant filed a Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, motion to dismiss with prejudice. *Id.* They argued that the claim was barred by the Tort Claims Act, and since the Plaintiff had alleged no additional facts or theories of recovery, their motion should be granted. *Id.* The Court agreed and dismissed the Complaint with prejudice. *Id.* The Court reasoned that allowing the Plaintiff to amend the Complaint would be futile because the Plaintiff proposed no additional facts or theories of recovery that could survive a 12(b)(6) motion. *Id.*

Here, like in *Doe*, the Judge has the discretion and power to dismiss a Complaint with prejudice if there are no additional facts or theories of recovery which the Plaintiff can point to which would make leave to amend futile. Since Mr. Kincannon did not allege any additional facts or theories of recovery before the motion hearing, at the hearing, or after the hearing, Judge Stilwell granted Moore Taylor's Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice. Judge Stilwell had the discretion to dismiss a complaint with or without prejudice. He properly decided to grant Moore Taylor's Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice based on the complete record.

However, even if the Appellate Court decides that the dismissal with prejudice was erroneous and Kincannon should have been granted leave to amend, the Court of Appeals may still affirm the dismissal with prejudice.

When a complaint is dismissed with prejudice and the plaintiff erroneously is denied the opportunity to file and serve an amended complaint, but the plaintiff fails to present additional factual allegations or a different theory of recovery which may give rise to a claim upon which relief may be granted, the appellate court may in its discretion affirm the dismissal of the complaint with prejudice.

Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 106, 131, 628 S.E.2d 869, 882 (2006).

In *Spence*, the Second Owner of real property brought action against the original owner, third owners, ultimate purchasers, and agent, seeking reformation of deeds due to a mutual mistake about lot size. *Id.* at 131, 628 S.E.2d at 869. Ultimate Purchasers brought a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim. *Id.* The Second Owner asked the Court to grant her at least fifteen days to file and serve an amended complaint instead of dismissing the complaint with prejudice. *Id.* at 128, 628 S.E.2d at 880. The court refused and granted Ultimate Purchaser's Motion to Dismiss with prejudice. *Id.* Second Owner appealed contending that the Court erred in denying her motion to amend the complaint. *Id.* The Supreme Court states that while ordinarily the dismissal should have been without prejudice, Second Owner failed to present any additional factual allegations or a different theory of recovery which may give rise to a cause of action upon which relief may be granted against Ultimate Purchaser. *Id.* at 131, 628 S.E.2d at 882. Second Owner merely reiterated the same allegations on appeal as originally plead in her complaint. *Id.* Therefore, the Supreme Court affirmed the lower Court's dismissal with prejudice of Second Owner's complaint against Ultimate Purchaser. *Id.*

Similar to *Spence*, Kincannon has failed in his Initial Brief to present any additional factual allegations or theories of recovery which would give rise to a valid Complaint and compel the

Court of Appeals to allow him leave to amend. Kincannon listed eleven (11) ways in which he would “cure” the pleading defects. (Appellant’s Initial Br., pp. 20-25). However, he listed no additional facts or no additional theories of recovery, and he wants to remove one theory of recovery initially pled. Additionally, Kincannon states he “would include substantially more facts” but he does not list or include any. (Appellant’s Initial Br., p. 24). Kincannon has had more than enough time to include additional facts and research new theories of recovery, but he has not. Therefore any amendment would be futile.

IV. JUDGE STILWELL PROPERLY DENIED KINCANNON’S MOTION FOR RECUSAL.

On July 30, 2019, Judge Stilwell denied Kincannon’s Motion to Reconsider the Court’s Order Granting Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and for Additional Relief. (R. p. 11). Kincannon included several paragraphs in his Motion for Reconsideration alleging Judge Stilwell had a duty to recuse himself. (R. pp. 119-22).

Because a review of the dismissal order indicates the Presiding Judge evidently had or *sua sponte* gained personal knowledge of matters relating to the case that are not part of the record and intended to rely on such knowledge in the ruling, the Presiding Judge had a duty to recuse. The Presiding Judge should also recuse at this juncture due to multiple, apparently intentional, violation of Plaintiff’s due process rights incident to the consideration of the Rule 12(b)(6) motion filed by Defendants. The record of proceedings in this matter and the dismissal order itself indicate that the Presiding Judge’s ruling was based, in whole or in part, on personal prejudice against the Plaintiff entirely unrelated to the sole issue before the Court, i.e. whether or not Plaintiff’s Complaint adequately stated facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for abuse of process and other causes of action asserted in the Complaint. The dismissal order in particular that the Presiding Judge considered numerous matters that were entirely improper in the context of the one-issue Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF motion made by Defendants and the Presiding Judge should vacate the dismissal order and recuse from further proceedings in this matter due to the realistic possibility that future rulings in this case by the Presiding Judge will be tainted by matters outside the record that the Presiding

Judge became personally familiar with and, in whole or in part, animated his decision-making process at the Rule 12(b)(6) stage. Plaintiff respectfully submits that non-recusal at this point would violate Plaintiff's rights to a judge whose rulings are untainted by outside-the-record personal research secured by South Carolina common law, the South Carolina Constitution, and the United States Constitution.

(R. pp. 122-23).

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